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not order the operator to make any re-
funds unless and until the local fran-
chising authority has rejected the cer-
tification in a final order that is no 
longer subject to appeal or that the 
Commission has affirmed. The operator 
shall be liable for refunds for revenues 
gained (beyond revenues that could be 
gained under regulation) as a result of 
any rate increase taken during the pe-
riod in which it claimed to be deregu-
lated, plus interest, in the event the 
operator is later found not to be de-
regulated. The one-year limitation on 
refund liability will not be applicable 
during that period to ensure that the 
filing of an invalid small operator cer-
tification does not reduce any refund 
liability that the operator would other-
wise incur. 

(3) Within 30 days of being served 
with a local franchising authority’s no-
tice that the local franchising author-
ity intends to file a cable programming 
services tier rate complaint, an oper-
ator may certify to the local fran-
chising authority that it meets the cri-
teria for qualification as a small cable 
operator. This certification shall be 
filed in accordance with the cable pro-
gramming services rate complaint pro-
cedure set forth in § 76.1402. Absent a 
cable programming services rate com-
plaint, the operator may request a dec-
laration of CPST rate deregulation 
from the Commission pursuant to § 76.7. 

(c) Transition from small cable operator 
status. If a small cable operator subse-
quently becomes ineligible for small 
operator status, the operator will be-
come subject to regulation but may 
maintain the rates it charged prior to 
losing small cable operator status if 
such rates (with an allowance for 
minor variations) were in effect for the 
three months preceding the loss of 
small cable operator status. Subse-
quent rate increases following the loss 
of small cable operator status will be 
subject to generally applicable regula-
tions governing rate increases. 

NOTE TO § 76.990: For rules governing small 
cable systems and small cable companies, 
see § 76.934. 

[64 FR 35951, July 2, 1999] 

Subpart O—Competitive Access 
to Cable Programming 

§ 76.1000 Definitions. 

As used in this subpart: 
(a) Area served by cable system. The 

term ‘‘area served’’ by a cable system 
means an area actually passed by a 
cable system and which can be con-
nected for a standard connection fee. 

(b) Cognizable interests. In applying 
the provisions of this subpart, owner-
ship and other interests in cable opera-
tors, satellite cable programming ven-
dors, satellite broadcast programming 
vendors, or terrestrial cable program-
ming vendors will be attributed to 
their holders and may subject the in-
terest holders to the rules of this sub-
part. Cognizable and attributable inter-
ests shall be defined by reference to the 
criteria set forth in Notes 1 through 5 
to § 76.501 provided, however, that: 

(1) The limited partner and LLC/LLP/ 
RLLP insulation provisions of Note 2(f) 
shall not apply; and 

(2) The provisions of Note 2(a) regard-
ing five (5) percent interests shall in-
clude all voting or nonvoting stock or 
limited partnership equity interests of 
five (5) percent or more. 

(c) Buying groups. The term ‘‘buying 
group’’ or ‘‘agent,’’ for purposes of the 
definition of a multichannel video pro-
gramming distributor set forth in para-
graph (e) of this section, means an en-
tity representing the interests of more 
than one entity distributing multi-
channel video programming that: 

(1) Agrees to be financially liable for 
any fees due pursuant to a satellite 
cable programming, satellite broadcast 
programming, or terrestrial cable pro-
gramming contract which it signs as a 
contracting party as a representative 
of its members or whose members, as 
contracting parties, agree to joint and 
several liability; and 

(2) Agrees to uniform billing and 
standardized contract provisions for in-
dividual members; and 

(3) Agrees either collectively or indi-
vidually on reasonable technical qual-
ity standards for the individual mem-
bers of the group. 

(d) Competing distributors. The term 
‘‘competing,’’ as used with respect to 
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competing multichannel video pro-
gramming distributors, means distribu-
tors whose actual or proposed service 
areas overlap. 

(e) Multichannel video programming 
distributor. The term ‘‘multichannel 
video programming distributor’’ means 
an entity engaged in the business of 
making available for purchase, by sub-
scribers or customers, multiple chan-
nels of video programming. Such enti-
ties include, but are not limited to, a 
cable operator, a BRS/EBS provider, a 
direct broadcast satellite service, a tel-
evision receive-only satellite program 
distributor, and a satellite master an-
tenna television system operator, as 
well as buying groups or agents of all 
such entities. 

NOTE TO PARAGRAPH (e): A video program-
ming provider that provides more than one 
channel of video programming on an open 
video system is a multichannel video pro-
gramming distributor for purposes of this 
subpart O and Section 76.1507. 

(f) Satellite broadcast programming. 
The term ‘‘satellite broadcast program-
ming’’ means broadcast video program-
ming when such programming is re-
transmitted by satellite and the entity 
retransmitting such programming is 
not the broadcaster or an entity per-
forming such retransmission on behalf 
of and with the specific consent of the 
broadcaster. 

(g) Satellite broadcast programming 
vendor. The term ‘‘satellite broadcast 
programming vendor’’ means a fixed 
service satellite carrier that provides 
service pursuant to section 119 of title 
17, United States Code, with respect to 
satellite broadcast programming. 

(h) Satellite cable programming. The 
term ‘‘satellite cable programming’’ 
means video programming which is 
transmitted via satellite and which is 
primarily intended for direct receipt by 
cable operators for their retrans-
mission to cable subscribers, except 
that such term does not include sat-
ellite broadcast programming. 

NOTE TO PARAGRAPH (h): Satellite program-
ming which is primarily intended for the di-
rect receipt by open video system operators 
for their retransmission to open video sys-
tem subscribers shall be included within the 
definition of satellite cable programming. 

(i) Satellite cable programming vendor. 
The term ‘‘satellite cable programming 

vendor’’ means a person engaged in the 
production, creation, or wholesale dis-
tribution for sale of satellite cable pro-
gramming, but does not include a sat-
ellite broadcast programming vendor. 

(j) Similarly situated. The term ‘‘simi-
larly situated’’ means, for the purposes 
of evaluating alternative programming 
contracts offered by a defendant pro-
gramming vendor or by a terrestrial 
cable programming vendor alleged to 
have engaged in conduct described in 
§ 76.1001(b)(1)(ii), that an alternative 
multichannel video programming dis-
tributor has been identified by the de-
fendant as being more properly com-
pared to the complainant in order to 
determine whether a violation of 
§ 76.1001(a) or § 76.1002(b) has occurred. 
The analysis of whether an alternative 
multichannel video programming dis-
tributor is properly comparable to the 
complainant includes consideration of, 
but is not limited to, such factors as 
whether the alternative multichannel 
video programming distributor oper-
ates within a geographic region proxi-
mate to the complainant, has roughly 
the same number of subscribers as the 
complainant, and purchases a similar 
service as the complainant. Such alter-
native multichannel video program-
ming distributor, however, must use 
the same distribution technology as 
the ‘‘competing’’ distributor with 
whom the complainant seeks to com-
pare itself. 

(k) Subdistribution agreement. The 
term ‘‘subdistribution agreement’’ 
means an arrangement by which a 
local cable operator is given the right 
by a satellite cable programming ven-
dor or satellite broadcast programming 
vendor to distribute the vendor’s pro-
gramming to competing multichannel 
video programming distributors. 

(l) Terrestrial cable programming. The 
term ‘‘terrestrial cable programming’’ 
means video programming which is 
transmitted terrestrially or by any 
means other than satellite and which is 
primarily intended for direct receipt by 
cable operators for their retrans-
mission to cable subscribers, except 
that such term does not include sat-
ellite broadcast programming or sat-
ellite cable programming. 

VerDate Mar<15>2010 10:13 Dec 13, 2011 Jkt 223205 PO 00000 Frm 00689 Fmt 8010 Sfmt 8010 Y:\SGML\223205.XXX 223205w
re

ie
r-

av
ile

s 
on

 D
S

K
3T

P
T

V
N

1P
R

O
D

 w
ith

 C
F

R



680 

47 CFR Ch. I (10–1–11 Edition) § 76.1001 

(m) Terrestrial cable programming ven-
dor. The term ‘‘terrestrial cable pro-
gramming vendor’’ means a person en-
gaged in the production, creation, or 
wholesale distribution for sale of ter-
restrial cable programming, but does 
not include a satellite broadcast pro-
gramming vendor or a satellite cable 
programming vendor. 

[58 FR 27670, May 11, 1993, as amended at 61 
FR 28708, June 5, 1996; 64 FR 67197, Dec. 1, 
1999; 69 FR 72046, Dec. 10, 2004; 75 FR 9723, 
Mar. 3, 2010] 

§ 76.1001 Unfair practices generally. 
(a) Unfair practices generally. No cable 

operator, satellite cable programming 
vendor in which a cable operator has 
an attributable interest, or satellite 
broadcast programming vendor shall 
engage in unfair methods of competi-
tion or unfair or deceptive acts or prac-
tices, the purpose or effect of which is 
to hinder significantly or prevent any 
multichannel video programming dis-
tributor from providing satellite cable 
programming or satellite broadcast 
programming to subscribers or con-
sumers. 

(b) Unfair practices involving terrestrial 
cable programming and terrestrial cable 
programming vendors. (1) The phrase 
‘‘unfair methods of competition or un-
fair or deceptive acts or practices’’ as 
used in paragraph (a) of this section in-
cludes, but is not limited to, the fol-
lowing: 

(i) Any effort or action by a cable op-
erator that has an attributable interest 
in a terrestrial cable programming 
vendor to unduly or improperly influ-
ence the decision of such vendor to sell, 
or unduly or improperly influence such 
vendor’s prices, terms, and conditions 
for the sale of, terrestrial cable pro-
gramming to any unaffiliated multi-
channel video programming dis-
tributor. 

(ii) Discrimination in the prices, 
terms, or conditions of sale or delivery 
of terrestrial cable programming 
among or between competing cable sys-
tems, competing cable operators, or 
any competing multichannel video pro-
gramming distributors, or their agents 
or buying groups, by a terrestrial cable 
programming vendor that is wholly 
owned by, controlled by, or under com-
mon control with a cable operator or 

cable operators, satellite cable pro-
gramming vendor or vendors in which a 
cable operator has an attributable in-
terest, or satellite broadcast program-
ming vendor or vendors; except that 
the phrase does not include the prac-
tices set forth in § 76.1002(b)(1) through 
(3). The cable operator or cable opera-
tors, satellite cable programming ven-
dor or vendors in which a cable oper-
ator has an attributable interest, or 
satellite broadcast programming ven-
dor or vendors that wholly own or con-
trol, or are under common control 
with, such terrestrial cable program-
ming vendor shall be deemed respon-
sible for such discrimination and any 
complaint based on such discrimina-
tion shall be filed against such cable 
operator, satellite cable programming 
vendor, or satellite broadcast program-
ming vendor. 

(iii) Exclusive contracts, or any prac-
tice, activity, or arrangement tanta-
mount to an exclusive contract, for 
terrestrial cable programming between 
a cable operator and a terrestrial cable 
programming vendor in which a cable 
operator has an attributable interest. 

(2) Any multichannel video program-
ming distributor aggrieved by conduct 
described in paragraph (b)(1) of this 
section that it believes constitutes a 
violation of paragraph (a) of this sec-
tion may commence an adjudicatory 
proceeding at the Commission to ob-
tain enforcement of the rules through 
the filing of a complaint. The com-
plaint shall be filed and responded to in 
accordance with the procedures speci-
fied in § 76.7, as modified by § 76.1003, 
with the following additions or 
changes: 

(i) The defendant shall answer the 
complaint within forty-five (45) days of 
service of the complaint, unless other-
wise directed by the Commission. 

(ii) The complainant shall have the 
burden of proof that the defendant’s al-
leged conduct described in paragraph 
(b)(1) of this section has the purpose or 
effect of hindering significantly or pre-
venting the complainant from pro-
viding satellite cable programming or 
satellite broadcast programming to 
subscribers or consumers. An answer to 
such a complaint shall set forth the de-
fendant’s reasons to support a finding 
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that the complainant has not carried 
this burden. 

(iii) A complainant alleging that a 
terrestrial cable programming vendor 
has engaged in conduct described in 
paragraph (b)(1)(ii) of this section shall 
have the burden of proof that the ter-
restrial cable programming vendor is 
wholly owned by, controlled by, or 
under common control with a cable op-
erator or cable operators, satellite 
cable programming vendor or vendors 
in which a cable operator has an attrib-
utable interest, or satellite broadcast 
programming vendor or vendors. An 
answer to such a complaint shall set 
forth the defendant’s reasons to sup-
port a finding that the complainant 
has not carried this burden. 

[75 FR 9723, Mar. 3, 2010] 

§ 76.1002 Specific unfair practices pro-
hibited. 

(a) Undue or improper influence. No 
cable operator that has an attributable 
interest in a satellite cable program-
ming vendor or in a satellite broadcast 
programming vendor shall unduly or 
improperly influence the decision of 
such vendor to sell, or unduly or im-
properly influence such vendor’s prices, 
terms and conditions for the sale of, 
satellite cable programming or sat-
ellite broadcast programming to any 
unaffiliated multichannel video pro-
gramming distributor. 

(b) Discrimination in prices, terms or 
conditions. No satellite cable program-
ming vendor in which a cable operator 
has an attributable interest, or sat-
ellite broadcast programming vendor, 
shall discriminate in the prices, terms, 
and conditions of sale or delivery of 
satellite cable programming or sat-
ellite broadcast programming among 
or between competing cable systems, 
competing cable operators, or any com-
peting multichannel video program-
ming distributors. Nothing in this sub-
section, however, shall preclude: 

(1) The imposition of reasonable re-
quirements for creditworthiness, offer-
ing of service, and financial stability 
and standards regarding character and 
technical quality; 

NOTE 1: Vendors are permitted to create a 
distinct class or classes of service in pricing 
based on credit considerations or financial 
stability, although any such distinctions 

must be applied for reasons for other than a 
multichannel video programming distribu-
tor’s technology. Vendors are not permitted 
to manifest factors such as creditworthiness 
or financial stability in price differentials if 
such factors are already taken into account 
through different terms or conditions such 
as special credit requirements or payment 
guarantees. 

NOTE 2: Vendors may establish price dif-
ferentials based on factors related to offering 
of service, or difference related to the actual 
service exchanged between the vendor and 
the distributor, as manifested in standardly 
applied contract terms based on a distribu-
tor’s particular characteristics or willing-
ness to provide secondary services that are 
reflected as a discount or surcharge in the 
programming service’s price. Such factors 
include, but are not limited to, penetration 
of programming to subscribers or to par-
ticular systems; retail price of programming 
to the consumer for pay services; amount 
and type of promotional or advertising serv-
ices by a distributor; a distributor’s purchase 
of programming in a package or a la carte; 
channel position; importance of location for 
non-volume reasons; prepayment discounts; 
contract duration; date of purchase, espe-
cially purchase of service at launch; meeting 
competition at the distributor level; and 
other legitimate factors as standardly ap-
plied in a technology neutral fashion. 

(2) The establishment of different 
prices, terms, and conditions to take 
into account actual and reasonable dif-
ferences in the cost of creation, sale, 
delivery, or transmission of satellite 
cable programming, satellite broadcast 
programming, or terrestrial cable pro-
gramming; 

NOTE: Vendors may base price differen-
tials, in whole or in part, on differences in 
the cost of delivering a programming service 
to particular distributors, such as differences 
in costs, or additional costs, incurred for ad-
vertising expenses, copyright fees, customer 
service, and signal security. Vendors may 
base price differentials on cost differences 
that occur within a given technology as well 
as between technologies. A price differential 
for a program service may not be based on a 
distributor’s retail costs in delivering serv-
ice to subscribers unless the program vendor 
can demonstrate that subscribers do not or 
will not benefit from the distributor’s cost 
savings that result from a lower program-
ming price. 

(3) The establishment of different 
prices, terms, and conditions which 
take into account economies of scale, 
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cost savings, or other direct and legiti-
mate economic benefits reasonably at-
tributable to the number of subscribers 
served by the distributor; or 

NOTE: Vendors may use volume-related jus-
tifications to establish price differentials to 
the extent that such justifications are made 
available to similarly situated distributors 
on a technology-neutral basis. When relying 
upon standardized volume-related factors 
that are made available to all multichannel 
video programming distributors using all 
technologies, the vendor may be required to 
demonstrate that such volume discounts are 
reasonably related to direct and legitimate 
economic benefits reasonably attributable to 
the number of subscribers served by the dis-
tributor if questions arise about the applica-
tion of that discount. In such demonstra-
tions, vendors will not be required to provide 
a strict cost justification for the structure of 
such standard volume-related factors, but 
may also identify non-cost economic benefits 
related to increased viewership. 

(4) Entering into exclusive contracts 
in areas that are permitted under para-
graphs (c)(2) and (c)(4) of this section. 

(c) Exclusive contracts and practices— 
(1) Unserved areas. No cable operator 
shall engage in any practice or activity 
or enter into any understanding or ar-
rangement, including exclusive con-
tracts, with a satellite cable program-
ming vendor or satellite broadcast pro-
gramming vendor for satellite cable 
programming or satellite broadcast 
programming that prevents a multi-
channel video programming distributor 
from obtaining such programming from 
any satellite cable programming ven-
dor in which a cable operator has an 
attributable interest, or any satellite 
broadcast programming vendor in 
which a cable operator has an attrib-
utable interest for distribution to per-
sons in areas not served by a cable op-
erator as of October 5, 1992. 

(2) Served areas. No cable operator 
shall enter into any exclusive con-
tracts, or engage in any practice, activ-
ity or arrangement tantamount to an 
exclusive contract, for satellite cable 
programming or satellite broadcast 
programming with a satellite cable 
programming vendor in which a cable 
operator has an attributable interest 
or a satellite broadcast programming 
vendor in which a cable operator has 
an attributable interest, with respect 
to areas served by a cable operator, un-

less the Commission determines in ac-
cordance with paragraph (c)(4) of this 
section that such contract, practice, 
activity or arrangement is in the pub-
lic interest. 

(3) Specific arrangements: Subdistribu-
tion agreements—(i) Served areas. No 
cable operator shall enter into any sub-
distribution agreement or arrangement 
for satellite cable programming or sat-
ellite broadcast programming with a 
satellite cable programming vendor in 
which a cable operator has an attrib-
utable interest or a satellite broadcast 
programming vendor in which a cable 
operator has an attributable interest, 
with respect to areas served by a cable 
operator, unless such agreement or ar-
rangement complies with the limita-
tions set forth in paragraph (c)(3)(iii) of 
this section. 

(ii) Limitations on subdistribution 
agreements in served areas. No cable op-
erator engaged in subdistribution of 
satellite cable programming or sat-
ellite broadcast programming may re-
quire a competing multichannel video 
programming distributor to 

(A) Purchase additional or unrelated 
programming as a condition of such 
subdistribution; or 

(B) Provide access to private prop-
erty in exchange for access to program-
ming. In addition, a subdistributor 
may not charge a competing multi-
channel video programming distributor 
more for said programming than the 
satellite cable programming vendor or 
satellite broadcast programming ven-
dor itself would be permitted to charge. 
Any cable operator acting as a subdis-
tributor of satellite cable programming 
or satellite broadcast programming 
must respond to a request for access to 
such programming by a competing 
multichannel video programming dis-
tributor within fifteen (15) days of the 
request. If the request is denied, the 
competing multichannel video pro-
gramming distributor must be per-
mitted to negotiate directly with the 
satellite cable programming vendor or 
satellite broadcast programming ven-
dor. 

(4) Public interest determination. In de-
termining whether an exclusive con-
tract is in the public interest for pur-
poses of paragraph (c)(2) of this section, 
the Commission will consider each of 
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the following factors with respect to 
the effect of such contract on the dis-
tribution of video programming in 
areas that are served by a cable oper-
ator: 

(i) The effect of such exclusive con-
tract on the development of competi-
tion in local and national multichannel 
video programming distribution mar-
kets; 

(ii) The effect of such exclusive con-
tract on competition from multi-
channel video programming distribu-
tion technologies other than cable; 

(iii) The effect of such exclusive con-
tract on the attraction of capital in-
vestment in the production and dis-
tribution of new satellite cable pro-
gramming; 

(iv) The effect of such exclusive con-
tract on diversity of programming in 
the multichannel video programming 
distribution market; and 

(v) The duration of the exclusive con-
tract. 

(5) Prior Commission approval required. 
Any cable operator, satellite cable pro-
gramming vendor in which a cable op-
erator has an attributable interest, or 
satellite broadcast programming ven-
dor in which a cable operator has an 
attributable interest seeking to enforce 
or enter into an exclusive contract in 
an area served by a cable operator 
must submit a ‘‘Petition for Exclu-
sivity’’ to the Commission for ap-
proval. 

(i) The petition for exclusivity shall 
contain those portions of the contract 
relevant to exclusivity, including: 

(A) A description of the programming 
service; 

(B) The extent and duration of exclu-
sivity proposed; and 

(C) Any other terms or provisions di-
rectly related to exclusivity or to any 
of the criteria set forth in paragraph 
(c)(4) of this section. The petition for 
exclusivity shall also include a state-
ment setting forth the petitioner’s rea-
sons to support a finding that the con-
tract is in the public interest, address-
ing each of the five factors set forth in 
paragraph (c)(4) of this section. 

(ii) Any competing multichannel 
video programming distributor affected 
by the proposed exclusivity may file an 
opposition to the petition for exclu-
sivity within thirty (30) days of the 

date on which the petition is placed on 
public notice, setting forth its reasons 
to support a finding that the contract 
is not in the public interest under the 
criteria set forth in paragraph (c)(4) of 
this section. Any such formal opposi-
tion must be served on petitioner on 
the same day on which it is filed with 
the Commission. 

(iii) The petitioner may file a re-
sponse within ten (10) days of receipt of 
any formal opposition. The Commis-
sion will then approve or deny the peti-
tion for exclusivity. 

(6) Sunset provision. The prohibition 
of exclusive contracts set forth in para-
graph (c)(2) of this section shall cease 
to be effective on October 5, 2012, un-
less the Commission finds, during a 
proceeding to be conducted during the 
year preceding such date, that said pro-
hibition continues to be necessary to 
preserve and protect competition and 
diversity in the distribution of video 
programming. 

(d) Limitations—(1) Geographic limita-
tions. Nothing in this section shall re-
quire any person who is engaged in the 
national or regional distribution of 
video programming to make such pro-
gramming available in any geographic 
area beyond which such programming 
has been authorized or licensed for dis-
tribution. 

(2) Applicability to satellite retrans-
missions. Nothing in this section shall 
apply: 

(i) To the signal of any broadcast af-
filiate of a national television network 
or other television signal that is re-
transmitted by satellite but that is not 
satellite broadcast programming; or 

(ii) To any internal satellite commu-
nication of any broadcast network or 
cable network that is not satellite 
broadcast programming. 

(e) Exemptions for prior contracts—(1) 
In general. Nothing in this section shall 
affect any contract that grants exclu-
sive distribution rights to any person 
with respect to satellite cable pro-
gramming and that was entered into or 
before June 1, 1990, except that the pro-
visions of paragraph (c)(1) of this sec-
tion shall apply for distribution to per-
sons in areas not served by a cable op-
erator. 

(2) Limitation on renewals. A contract 
that was entered into on or before June 
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1, 1990, but that was renewed or ex-
tended after October 5, 1992, shall not 
be exempt under paragraph (e)(1) of 
this section. 

(f) Application to existing contracts. All 
contracts, except those specified in 
paragraph (e) of this section, related to 
the provision of satellite cable pro-
gramming or satellite broadcast pro-
gramming to any multichannel video 
programming distributor must be 
brought into compliance with the re-
quirements specified in this subpart no 
later than November 15, 1993. 

[58 FR 27671, May 11, 1993, as amended at 59 
FR 66259, Dec. 23, 1994; 67 FR 42951, July 30, 
2002; 72 FR 56661, Oct. 4, 2007; 75 FR 9724, Mar. 
3, 2010] 

§ 76.1003 Program access proceedings. 
(a) Complaints. Any multichannel 

video programming distributor ag-
grieved by conduct that it believes con-
stitute a violation of the regulations 
set forth in this subpart may com-
mence an adjudicatory proceeding at 
the Commission to obtain enforcement 
of the rules through the filing of a 
complaint. The complaint shall be filed 
and responded to in accordance with 
the procedures specified in § 76.7 of this 
part with the following additions or 
changes: 

(b) Prefiling notice required. Any ag-
grieved multichannel video program-
ming distributor intending to file a 
complaint under this section must first 
notify the potential defendant cable 
operator, and/or the potential defend-
ant satellite cable programming ven-
dor or satellite broadcast programming 
vendor, that it intends to file a com-
plaint with the Commission based on 
actions alleged to violate one or more 
of the provisions contained in § 76.1001 
or § 76.1002 of this part. The notice must 
be sufficiently detailed so that its re-
cipient(s) can determine the specific 
nature of the potential complaint. The 
potential complainant must allow a 
minimum of ten (10) days for the poten-
tial defendant(s) to respond before fil-
ing a complaint with the Commission. 

(c) Contents of complaint. In addition 
to the requirements of § 76.7 of this 
part, a program access complaint shall 
contain: 

(1) The type of multichannel video 
programming distributor that de-

scribes complainant, the address and 
telephone number of the complainant, 
whether the defendant is a cable oper-
ator, satellite broadcast programming 
vendor or satellite cable programming 
vendor (describing each defendant), and 
the address and telephone number of 
each defendant; 

(2) Evidence that supports complain-
ant’s belief that the defendant, where 
necessary, meets the attribution stand-
ards for application of the program ac-
cess requirements; 

(3) Evidence that the complainant 
competes with the defendant cable op-
erator, or with a multichannel video 
programming distributor that is a cus-
tomer of the defendant satellite cable 
programming or satellite broadcast 
programming vendor or a terrestrial 
cable programming vendor alleged to 
have engaged in conduct described in 
§ 76.1001(b)(1); 

(4) In complaints alleging discrimina-
tion, documentary evidence such as a 
rate card or a programming contract 
that demonstrates a differential in 
price, terms or conditions between 
complainant and a competing multi-
channel video programming distributor 
or, if no programming contract or rate 
card is submitted with the complaint, 
an affidavit signed by an officer of 
complainant alleging that a differen-
tial in price, terms or conditions exits, 
a description of the nature and extent 
(if known or reasonably estimated by 
the complainant) of the differential, 
together with a statement that defend-
ant refused to provide any further spe-
cific comparative information; 

(5) If a programming contract or a 
rate card is submitted with the com-
plaint in support of the alleged viola-
tion, specific references to the relevant 
provisions therein; 

(6) In complaints alleging exclusivity 
violations: 

(i) The identity of both the pro-
grammer and cable operator who are 
parties to the alleged prohibited agree-
ment, 

(ii) Evidence that complainant can or 
does serve the area specified in the 
complaint, and 

(iii) Evidence that the complainant 
has requested to purchase the relevant 
programming and has been refused or 
unanswered; 
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(7) In complaints alleging a violation 
of § 76.1001 of this part, evidence dem-
onstrating that the behavior com-
plained of has harmed complainant. 

(8) The complaint must be accom-
panied by appropriate evidence dem-
onstrating that the required notifica-
tion pursuant to paragraph (a) of this 
section has been made. 

(d) Damages requests. (1) In a case 
where recovery of damages is sought, 
the complaint shall contain a clear and 
unequivocal request for damages and 
appropriate allegations in support of 
such claim in accordance with the re-
quirements of paragraph (d)(3) of this 
section. 

(2) Damages will not be awarded upon 
a complaint unless specifically re-
quested. Damages may be awarded if 
the complaint complies fully with the 
requirement of paragraph (d)(3) of this 
section where the defendant knew, or 
should have known that it was engag-
ing in conduct violative of section 628. 

(3) In all cases in which recovery of 
damages is sought, the complainant 
shall include within, or as an attach-
ment to, the complaint, either: 

(i) A computation of each and every 
category of damages for which recov-
ery is sought, along with an identifica-
tion of all relevant documents and ma-
terials or such other evidence to be 
used by the complainant to determine 
the amount of such damages; or 

(ii) An explanation of: 
(A) The information not in the pos-

session of the complaining party that 
is necessary to develop a detailed com-
putation of damages; 

(B) The reason such information is 
unavailable to the complaining party; 

(C) The factual basis the complainant 
has for believing that such evidence of 
damages exists; and 

(D) A detailed outline of the method-
ology that would be used to create a 
computation of damages when such 
evidence is available. 

(e) Answer. (1) Except as otherwise 
provided or directed by the Commis-
sion, any cable operator, satellite cable 
programming vendor or satellite broad-
cast programming vendor upon which a 
program access complaint is served 
under this section shall answer within 
twenty (20) days of service of the com-
plaint. To the extent that a cable oper-

ator, satellite cable programming ven-
dor or satellite broadcast programming 
vendor expressly references and relies 
upon a document or documents in as-
serting a defense or responding to a 
material allegation, such document or 
documents shall be included as part of 
the answer. 

(2) An answer to an exclusivity com-
plaint shall provide the defendant’s 
reasons for refusing to sell the subject 
programming to the complainant. In 
addition, the defendant may submit its 
programming contracts covering the 
area specified in the complaint with its 
answer to refute allegations concerning 
the existence of an impermissible ex-
clusive contract. If there are no con-
tracts governing the specified area, the 
defendant shall so certify in its answer. 
Any contracts submitted pursuant to 
this provision may be protected as pro-
prietary pursuant to § 76.9 of this part. 

(3) An answer to a discrimination 
complaint shall state the reasons for 
any differential in prices, terms or con-
ditions between the complainant and 
its competitor, and shall specify the 
particular justification set forth in 
§ 76.1002(b) of this part relied upon in 
support of the differential. 

(i) When responding to allegations 
concerning price discrimination, ex-
cept in cases in which the alleged price 
differential is de minimis (less than or 
equal to five cents per subscriber or 
five percent, whichever is greater), the 
defendant shall provide documentary 
evidence to support any argument that 
the magnitude of the differential is not 
discriminatory. 

(ii) In cases involving a price dif-
ferential of less than or equal to five 
cents per subscriber or five percent, 
whichever is greater, the answer shall 
identify the differential as de minimis 
and state that the defendant is there-
fore not required to justify the mag-
nitude of the differential. 

(iii) If the defendant believes that the 
complainant and its competitor are not 
sufficiently similar, the answer shall 
set forth the reasons supporting this 
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conclusion, and the defendant may sub-
mit an alternative contract for com-
parison with a similarly situated mul-
tichannel video programming dis-
tributor that uses the same distribu-
tion technology as the competitor se-
lected for comparison by the complain-
ant. The answer shall state the defend-
ant’s reasons for any differential be-
tween the prices, terms and conditions 
between the complainant and such 
similarly situated distributor, and 
shall specify the particular justifica-
tions in § 76.1002(b) of this part relied 
upon in support of the differential. The 
defendant shall also provide with its 
answer written documentary evidence 
to support its justification of the mag-
nitude of any price differential between 
the complainant and such similarly sit-
uated distributor that is not de minimis. 

(4) An answer to a complaint alleging 
an unreasonable refusal to sell pro-
gramming shall state the defendant’s 
reasons for refusing to sell to the com-
plainant, or for refusing to sell to the 
complainant on the same terms and 
conditions as complainant’s compet-
itor, and shall specify why the defend-
ant’s actions are not discriminatory. 

(f) Reply. Within fifteen (15) days 
after service of an answer, unless oth-
erwise directed by the Commission, the 
complainant may file and serve a reply 
which shall be responsive to matters 
contained in the answer and shall not 
contain new matters. 

(g) Time limit on filing of complaints. 
Any complaint filed pursuant to this 
subsection must be filed within one 
year of the date on which one of the 
following events occurs: 

(1) The satellite cable programming 
vendor, satellite broadcast program-
ming vendor, or terrestrial cable pro-
gramming vendor enters into a con-
tract with the complainant that the 
complainant alleges to violate one or 
more of the rules contained in this sub-
part; or 

(2) The satellite cable programming 
vendor, satellite broadcast program-
ming vendor, or terrestrial cable pro-
gramming vendor offers to sell pro-
gramming to the complainant pursuant 
to terms that the complainant alleges 
to violate one or more of the rules con-
tained in this subpart, and such offer 
to sell programming is unrelated to 

any existing contract between the com-
plainant and the satellite cable pro-
gramming vendor, satellite broadcast 
programming vendor, or terrestrial 
cable programming vendor; or 

(3) The complainant has notified a 
cable operator, or a satellite cable pro-
gramming vendor or a satellite broad-
cast programming vendor that it in-
tends to file a complaint with the Com-
mission based on a request to purchase 
or negotiate to purchase satellite cable 
programming, satellite broadcast pro-
gramming, or terrestrial cable pro-
gramming, or has made a request to 
amend an existing contract pertaining 
to such programming pursuant to 
§ 76.1002(f) of this part that has been de-
nied or unacknowledged, allegedly in 
violation of one or more of the rules 
contained in this subpart. 

(h) Remedies for violations—(1) Rem-
edies authorized. Upon completion of 
such adjudicatory proceeding, the 
Commission shall order appropriate 
remedies, including, if necessary, the 
imposition of damages, and/or the es-
tablishment of prices, terms, and con-
ditions for the sale of programming to 
the aggrieved multichannel video pro-
gramming distributor. Such order shall 
set forth a timetable for compliance, 
and shall become effective upon re-
lease. 

(2) Additional sanctions. The remedies 
provided in paragraph (h)(1) of this sec-
tion are in addition to and not in lieu 
of the sanctions available under title V 
or any other provision of the Commu-
nications Act. 

(3) Imposition of damages. (i) Bifurca-
tion. In all cases in which damages are 
requested, the Commission may bifur-
cate the program access violation de-
termination from any damage adju-
dication. 

(ii) Burden of proof. The burden of 
proof regarding damages rests with the 
complainant, who must demonstrate 
with specificity the damages arising 
from the program access violation. Re-
quests for damages that grossly over-
state the amount of damages may re-
sult in a Commission determination 
that the complainant failed to satisfy 
its burden of proof to demonstrate with 
specificity the damages arising from 
the program access violation. 
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(iii) Damages adjudication. (A) The 
Commission may, in its discretion, end 
adjudication of damages with a written 
order determining the sufficiency of 
the damages computation submitted in 
accordance with paragraph (d)(3)(i) of 
this section or the damages computa-
tion methodology submitted in accord-
ance with paragraph (d)(3)(ii)(D) of this 
section, modifying such computation 
or methodology, or requiring the com-
plainant to resubmit such computation 
or methodology. 

(1) Where the Commission issues a 
written order approving or modifying a 
damages computation submitted in ac-
cordance with paragraph (d)(3)(i) of 
this section, the defendant shall rec-
ompense the complainant as directed 
therein. 

(2) Where the Commission issues a 
written order approving or modifying a 
damages computation methodology 
submitted in accordance with para-
graph (d)(3)(ii)(D) of this section, the 
parties shall negotiate in good faith to 
reach an agreement on the exact 
amount of damages pursuant to the 
Commission-mandated methodology. 

(B) Within thirty days of the 
issuance of a paragraph (d)(3)(ii)(D) of 
this section damages methodology 
order, the parties shall submit jointly 
to the Commission either: 

(1) A statement detailing the parties’ 
agreement as to the amount of dam-
ages; 

(2) A statement that the parties are 
continuing to negotiate in good faith 
and a request that the parties be given 
an extension of time to continue nego-
tiations; or 

(3) A statement detailing the bases 
for the continuing dispute and the rea-
sons why no agreement can be reached. 

(C)(1) In cases in which the parties 
cannot resolve the amount of damages 
within a reasonable time period, the 
Commission retains the right to deter-
mine the actual amount of damages on 
its own, or through the procedures de-
scribed in paragraph (h)(3)(iii)(C)(2) of 
this section. 

(2) Issues concerning the amount of 
damages may be designated by the 
Chief, Media Bureau for hearing before, 
or, if the parties agree, submitted for 
mediation to, a Commission Adminis-
trative Law Judge. 

(D) Interest on the amount of dam-
ages awarded will accrue from either 
the date indicated in the Commission’s 
written order issued pursuant to para-
graph (h)(3)(iii)(A)(1) of this section or 
the date agreed upon by the parties as 
a result of their negotiations pursuant 
to paragraph (h)(3)(iii)(A)(2) of this sec-
tion. Interest shall be computed at ap-
plicable rates published by the Internal 
Revenue Service for tax refunds. 

(i) Alternative dispute resolution. With-
in 20 days of the close of the pleading 
cycle, the parties to the program ac-
cess dispute may voluntarily engage in 
alternative dispute resolution, includ-
ing commercial arbitration. The Com-
mission will suspend action on the 
complaint if both parties agree to use 
alternative dispute resolution. 

(j) Discovery. In addition to the gen-
eral pleading and discovery rules con-
tained in § 76.7 of this part, parties to a 
program access complaint may serve 
requests for discovery directly on op-
posing parties, and file a copy of the re-
quest with the Commission. The re-
spondent shall have the opportunity to 
object to any request for documents 
that are not in its control or relevant 
to the dispute. Such request shall be 
heard, and determination made, by the 
Commission. Until the objection is 
ruled upon, the obligation to produce 
the disputed material is suspended. 
Any party who fails to timely provide 
discovery requested by the opposing 
party to which it has not raised an ob-
jection as described above, or who fails 
to respond to a Commission order for 
discovery material, may be deemed in 
default and an order may be entered in 
accordance with the allegations con-
tained in the complaint, or the com-
plaint may be dismissed with preju-
dice. 

(k) Protective orders. In addition to 
the procedures contained in § 76.9 of 
this part related to the protection of 
confidential material, the Commission 
may issue orders to protect the con-
fidentiality of proprietary information 
required to be produced for resolution 
of program access complaints. A pro-
tective order constitutes both an order 
of the Commission and an agreement 
between the party executing the pro-
tective order declaration and the party 
submitting the protected material. The 
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Commission has full authority to fash-
ion appropriate sanctions for violations 
of its protective orders, including but 
not limited to suspension or disbar-
ment of attorneys from practice before 
the Commission, forfeitures, cease and 
desist orders, and denial of further ac-
cess to confidential information in 
Commission proceedings. 

(l) Petitions for temporary standstill. (1) 
A program access complainant seeking 
renewal of an existing programming 
contract may file a petition along with 
its complaint requesting a temporary 
standstill of the price, terms, and other 
conditions of the existing programming 
contract pending resolution of the 
complaint. In addition to the require-
ments of § 76.7, the complainant shall 
have the burden of proof to dem-
onstrate the following in its petition: 

(i) The complainant is likely to pre-
vail on the merits of its complaint; 

(ii) The complainant will suffer irrep-
arable harm absent a stay; 

(iii) Grant of a stay will not substan-
tially harm other interested parties; 
and 

(iv) The public interest favors grant 
of a stay. 

(2) The defendant cable operator, sat-
ellite cable programming vendor or 
satellite broadcast programming ven-
dor upon which a petition for tem-
porary standstill is served shall answer 
within ten (10) days of service of the 
petition, unless otherwise directed by 
the Commission. 

(3) If the Commission grants the tem-
porary standstill, the Commission’s de-
cision acting on the complaint will pro-
vide for remedies that make the terms 
of the new agreement between the par-
ties retroactive to the expiration date 
of the previous programming contract. 

[64 FR 6572, Feb. 10, 1999, as amended at 67 
FR 13235, Mar. 21, 2002; 72 FR 56661, Oct. 4, 
2007; 75 FR 9724, Mar. 3, 2010] 

§ 76.1004 Applicability of program ac-
cess rules to common carriers and 
affiliates. 

(a) Any provision that applies to a 
cable operator under §§ 76.1000 through 
76.1003 shall also apply to a common 
carrier or its affiliate that provides 
video programming by any means di-
rectly to subscribers. Any such provi-
sion that applies to a satellite cable 

programming vendor in which a cable 
operator has an attributable interest 
shall apply to any satellite cable pro-
gramming vendor in which such com-
mon carrier has an attributable inter-
est. For the purposes of this section, 
two or fewer common officers or direc-
tors shall not by itself establish an at-
tributable interest by a common car-
rier in a satellite cable programming 
vendor (or its parent company) or a 
terrestrial cable programming vendor 
(or its parent company). 

(b) Sections 76.1002(c)(1) through (3) 
shall be applied to a common carrier or 
its affiliate that provides video pro-
gramming by any means directly to 
subscribers in such a way that such 
common carrier or its affiliate shall be 
generally restricted from entering into 
an exclusive arrangement for satellite 
cable programming or satellite broad-
cast programming with a satellite 
cable programming vendor in which a 
common carrier or its affiliate has an 
attributable interest or a satellite 
broadcast programming vendor in 
which a common carrier or its affiliate 
has an attributable interest, unless the 
arrangement pertains to an area served 
by a cable system as of October 5, 1992, 
and the Commission determines in ac-
cordance with Section § 76.1002(c)(4) 
that such arrangment is in the public 
interest. 

[61 FR 18980, Apr. 30, 1996, as amended at 61 
FR 28708, June 5, 1996; 75 FR 9724, Mar. 3, 
2010] 

§§ 76.1005–76.1010 [Reserved] 

Subpart P—Competitive 
Availability of Navigation Devices 

SOURCE: 63 FR 38094, July 15, 1998, unless 
otherwise noted. 

§ 76.1200 Definitions. 
As used in this subpart: 
(a) Multichannel video programming 

system. A distribution system that 
makes available for purchase, by cus-
tomers or subscribers, multiple chan-
nels of video programming other than 
an open video system as defined by 
§ 76.1500(a). Such systems include, but 
are not limited to, cable television sys-
tems, BRS/EBS systems, direct broad-
cast satellite systems, other systems 
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